Western University

Scholarship@Western

Undergraduate Honours Theses

Psychology

Spring 5-2022

The Effects of Peer Connectedness and Popularity in Predicting Adolescent E-Cigarette and Binge Drinking Patterns Across the **COVID-19 Pandemic**

Kyla N. Lamb

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/psych_uht



THE EFFECTS OF PEER CONNECTEDNESS AND POPULARITY IN PREDICTING ADOLESCENT E-CIGARETTE AND BINGE DRINKING PATTERNS ACROSS THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

by

Kyla Lamb

Department of Psychology

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Bachelor of Arts

Honours Psychology

Faculty of Arts and Social Science
Huron University College
London, Canada
April 30, 2022

© Kyla Lamb, 2022

HURON UNIVERSITY COLLEGE

CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION

Advisor: Dr. Tara Dumas

Reader: Dr. Stephen Van Hedger

The thesis by:

Kyla Lamb

entitled:

The Effects of Peer Connectedness and Popularity in Predicting Adolescent E-Cigarette and Binge Drinking Patterns Across the COVID-19 Pandemic

is accepted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Bachelor of Arts

in

Honours Psychology

April 30, 2022 Dr. Christine Tsang Date Chair of Department

Abstract

Despite research in adolescent substance use being a well-established discipline, little is known about the relationships between substance use during the COVID-19 pandemic when related to self-reported popularity and peer connectedness as predictors of this behaviour. This study sought to determine how binge drinking and vaping changed from the beginning of the pandemic (T1) to June 2021 (T2) and to examine how self-reported popularity and peer connectedness were predictors of this behaviour. At T1, there were 937 adolescent participants between 14-18 years of age ($M_{age} = 16.93$, SD = .85; 76.7% female, 21% male, and 2.3% other) and at T2, there were 489 adolescent participants ($M_{age} = 17.96, 79.1\%$ female, 17.6% male and 2.8% other). Participants completed online self-report surveys with questions related to their substance use frequency, peer connectedness during the pandemic and self-reported popularity at both T1 and T2. It was hypothesized that binge drinking and vaping frequency, operationalized as the number of days of use in the last three weeks, would be greater at T2 compared to T1. Furthermore, it was hypothesized that self-reported popularity and peer connectedness at T1 would predict increased substance use at T2. A paired-samples t-test revealed that adolescents binge drank and vaped more at T2 compared to T1. Stepwise linear regression revealed that T1 popularity was a significant predictor of vaping at T2 but not binge drinking at T2, although the results did not predict increases in vaping from T1 to T2. Last, the regression substantiated that increased peer connectedness at T1 did not predict increased substance use at T2. These findings suggest that adolescents may be at a greater risk negative consequences related to substance use and self-reported popularity. Implications, results for adolescent substance use, as well as prevention, intervention, and future directions are discussed.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to my thesis advisor, Dr.

Tara Dumas, whom I am deeply indebted to. I am profoundly grateful that you decided to take
me on as a student during the pandemic and allowed me to work alongside you over the past year
on some incredible projects, including but not limited to, my thesis. I deeply appreciate your
prompt responses to my many emails, helping me through my statistical analyses, and your edits
to ensure that I was presenting my best work. I am truly grateful to have been given the
opportunity to work with you throughout my undergraduate degree during coursework and
conferences. Your kindness and passion for research has deeply resonated with me and inspired
me to continue my studies in psychology.

Next, I wish to express my wholehearted gratitude to my second reader, Dr. Stephen Van Hedger, for his contributions to my thesis this year. I immensely appreciate your genuine interest, energy, and enthusiasm in my research ideas. I deeply grateful that you took the time to meet with me to facilitate greater discussions about my thesis and you truly provided me with such invaluable advice and thought-provoking questions throughout the length of the thesis.

To my professors in the Psychology department at Huron, I would like to extend my thanks for all your support, especially for providing such amazing lectures and opportunities, despite the unprecedented pandemic. I want to offer my special thanks to Dr. Irene Cheung for enhancing my love for psychology and research.

Finally, I would like to thank my loved ones, specifically my mom and sister, for their unconditional love and support throughout the entirety of my undergraduate degree, which has allowed me to put forth my utmost effort. Their genuine interest and care in my work has motivated me to succeed and want to pursue further education.

Table of Contents

	Page
CERTIFICATE OF EXAMINATION	i
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
Introduction	1
Method	6
Participants	
Procedure	
Measures	
Analytic Plan	
Results	9
Descriptive Statistics	9
Hypothesis Testing	. 10
Discussion	10
Table 1	21
Table 2	22
References	23
Curriculum Vitae	29

Introduction

Adolescent substance use patterns and related risk-taking behaviours have remained a pertinent topic amongst researchers and the general public for decades. In 2019, more than 40% of Canadian adolescents (13-18 years old) engaged in alcohol use and 22.7% reported using ecigarettes (vaping) (Boak et al., 2020). In March of 2020, shortly before the commencement of this research, the world was put into a state of emergency due to the declaration, by the World Health Organization, of a pandemic because of the circulating COVID-19 virus. The stay-athome orders implemented by the Canadian federal and provincial governments forced all persons to stay home, reduce their contacts, limit exposures in their communities, and only leave their house for essential trips such as going to work, going to the grocery store and medical appointments. For some adolescents, home can be isolating, lonely, unsupportive and can foster increased risk of adverse childhood experiences such as physical abuse and neglect (Cohen & Bosk, 2020). Also, adolescence is characterized as a period over the course of one's development where substance use exploration becomes more salient and factors such as peer connectedness, popularity, and rewards may predict substance use behaviour (Dumas et al., 2020). As Kuntsche and colleagues (2005) found, most adolescents use substances in social contexts, and it is likely that their substance use behaviours have changed over the course of the lockdowns. Because of the circumstances of the pandemic, adolescents lacked face-to-face social interactions that are often a result of attending school, work, social gatherings, and hanging out with friends. Therefore, adolescents did not have nearly as many opportunities to experiment with substances and other risk-taking behaviours.

Previous research has suggested that vaping among adolescents is ever present and the use of e-cigarettes is disproportionately higher amongst teenagers compared to all other age groups (Chao et al., 2019). The 2019 National Youth Tobacco Survey indicated that 10.5% of middle school students and 27.5% of high-school students reported actively using e-cigarettes in their daily lives, over five million students reported using e-cigarettes in the last 30 days and nearly one million reported vaping in the last 24 hours (Groom et al., 2021). Chao et al. (2019) also noted that vaping may be a gateway substance to cigarette smoking and other risky behaviours in adolescence such as alcohol use. Further, social influence has been known to be a factor that initiates conventional smoking and one's behaviour is often a reflection of their peers and social networks (Chao et al., 2019). The findings of Chao and colleagues' (2019) study indicate that adolescents are more intrigued to begin vaping due to curiosity rather than the intended purpose of the creators which was to help cigarette smokers to quit. In addition, they found that if the influence of vaping in society increases and adolescents are surrounded by people in their immediate circles who partake, there is an increased chance of dual smoking (vaping and cigarette use combined) as well as an increase in cigarette smoking alone. Other research indicates that all adolescents, those who use vapes and those who do not, recognize the popularity and acceptance of these tobacco products amongst their peers (Groom et al., 2021). Further, peer influence has been recognized as one of the most influential driving factors of adolescent vaping; most adolescents receive their first vaping product from a friend or identify that their first time using a vape was with the accompaniment of a friend (Groom et al., 2021). Adolescents also identify that feeling included by peers in this popular activity is an extremely strong driving force leading a teen to want to partake (Groom et al., 2021).

In continuation, Dumas and colleagues (2020) reported on how substance use changed among adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic and noted a significant decrease during the initial shutdown in the frequency of teens who vaped and engaged in binge drinking (4+ drinks for females and 5+ drinks for males in one sitting). Due to the strict rules imposed by the governments in order to reduce the spread of the deadly virus, adolescents were not able attend school in person, participate in extracurricular activities, spend time with their friends and therefore not as readily exposed to substances such as vapes in their homes. A study conducted in California indicated that adolescents reported less e-cigarette usage at the beginning of the stay-at-home orders however, this may have been a result of diminished access to products such as vapes because of decreased in person peer interactions and the closure of non-essential stores which would have included vape stores (Chaffee et al., 2021). Moreover, adolescents with preexisting substance use disorders might face further obstacles related to accessing mental health and substance use supports due to the limited access to appointments because of the excessive strain on the medical care system throughout the pandemic (Cohen & Bosk, 2020). This may be concerning for many reasons but notably, because adolescent substance use can lead to other substance use disorders, poorer physical and mental health that was likely already being impacted as a result of being forced to isolate in lonely home environments and lacking stimulating social interactions (Hingson & White, 2014; Mental Health Services Administration, 2017).

As Kuntsche et al. (2005) highlighted, most adolescents consume and engage in substance use for social purposes and to establish or maintain status amongst their peers and are less likely to use substances as coping mechanisms or alone. Friends and peers have been

deemed as key contributing factors in determining whether, when and how much adolescents consume alcohol (Cheadle et al., 2015). Additionally, it is well known that adolescents are very concerned with maintaining popularity and peer status and this popularity is often associated with mild-to-moderate substance use as well (i.e., drinking or vaping) (Dumas et al., 2020). Some studies indicated that by twelfth grade, 75% of adolescents report that one or more of their friends drink until drunk routinely and that over 80% drink to have a "good time" with friends and peers (Cheadle et al., 2015). These statistics suggest that peers and friendship networks must play a critical role in determining how alcohol is related to achieving high social status and popularity amongst this young and vulnerable age cohort. The relationships between adolescent drinking and friendships is quite dynamic and fluid as adolescent drinking may predict friendships but is simultaneous influenced by those relationships (Cheadle et al., 2015). Adolescents who are more connected to their friends generally have more opportunities to use various substances such as alcohol and vaping products (Dumas et al., 2020). The contributions of Cheadle et al. (2015) explained that drinking is less related to continuing pre-existing relationships and is more strongly related to the formation of new friendships. Therefore, it is possible that a higher self-reported popularity at Time 1 and increased peer connectedness at Time 1 will predict increased substance use at Time 2 because the more connected and greater an adolescent's network size and the more popular adolescents rate themselves at the beginning of the pandemic, the more likely they may seek their friends to engage in binge drinking and vaping at Time 2.

Based on these prior findings, in the present study it is hypothesized that that increased peer connectedness, even during the pandemic where connectedness might not be physical, will

predict increased substance use in different capacities. Because freedom was being constantly increased with the presence of vaccines and vaccine passports at Time 2, adolescents will be much more likely to engage in social gatherings with friends and peers therefore potentially increasing the likelihood they partake in risky behaviours such as binge drinking and vaping to help make up for "lost time" during the lockdowns.

The goal of this study is to examine how adolescents' substance use, specifically pertaining to vaping and alcohol use, has changed from the beginning of the pandemic (April 2020; Time 1) to June of 2021 (Time 2), in addition to peer-related predictors of this substance use. Adolescents from Ontario completed online surveys at two different time points that contained questions regarding their substance use behaviours (i.e., binge drinking and vaping frequency), in addition to their peer connectedness and popularity.

I hypothesize the following:

H₁A: Binge drinking will increase from Time 1 to Time 2.

H₁B: Vaping will increase from Time 1 to Time 2.

H2: Self-reported popularity at Time 1 will predict increased substance use at Time 2.

H3: Increased peer connectedness at Time 1 during the pandemic will predict increased substance use at Time 2.

Method

Participants

The sample consisted of 1068 adolescents who completed one of more time points of this study. At Time 1, data was collected from 937 adolescents. The remainder (131 participants; 12.3%) either consented to participate and be contacted for future studies but did not complete T1 survey or only completed the demographics portion of the survey. At T1, the 937 participants were 14-18 years of age ($M_{age} = 16.93$, SD = .85; 76.7% female, 21% male, and 2.3% other), with 65.2% identifying as White/European, 16.3% as Asian, 3.9% as Black North American/African, 3.1% as Latino and 11.6% as Other. A majority were currently living with a parent or guardian (98.86%) and the remainder lived with siblings, romantic partners, or roommates (1.14%). At Time 2, data was collected from 489 adolescents ($M_{age} = 17.96$, 79.1% female, 17.6% male and 2.8% other). Reported participant numbers do not reflect individuals who failed to appropriately answer validation questions/attention checks (i.e., "for this item, check the *strongly agree* box") in one or both surveys in the study (n = 512).

Procedure

First, ethical approval was obtained via Huron University College's ethics board.

Recruitment and data collection for Time 1 survey occurred from April 4th to April 16th, 2020, approximately three weeks after secondary schools in Ontario, Canada were closed indefinitely due to the declaration of the COVID-19 pandemic. Participants were recruited through an ad posted to the Huron Health & Peer Relationships Lab's *Instagram* page and promoted on 16–18-year-olds Ontarians' *Instagram* pages via the promotion feature for one week. Adolescents under the age of 16 were not recruited in this manner due to the challenges of obtaining

parental consent, which is mandatory for this age cohort according to Canada's research ethics policy. The survey link was also emailed to a group of 155 adolescents between the ages of 14-18 who were, at the time, completing a longitudinal survey for the Health & Peer Relationships Lab and for whom those under the age of 16 had already received parental consent.

Survey 1 contained demographic questions pertaining to gender identity, age, and education level. Participants were then asked questions regarding their substance use, specifically binge drinking and vaping. Participants were also asked questions related to their peer connectedness and self-reported popularity. After the survey was completed, participants were asked to create a unique participant ID in order to maintain anonymity but also have a way to link their data during Survey 2, should they choose to participate in future, related, studies. The participant ID that they created consisted of the first initial of their first name, the first initial of their last name, as well as the first four letters of the name of the street they live on.

Participants were contacted again in June 2021, approximately fifteen months after they completed Survey 1, by the researchers via email. The email invited participants to complete Survey 2 through a link provided using their participant ID. Survey 2 contained the same measures as Survey 1, however, slightly different wording to account for the time lapse of a year between surveys. Each survey took participants about 30 minutes to complete.

Reimbursement for Time 1 survey included entry to a draw to win one of ten \$50 gift cards or Apple Airpods and reimbursement for Time 2 survey included a guaranteed \$15 e-gift card.

Measures

The measures specific to this study are described below.

Substance Use Behaviour

Participants were asked to report the number of days in the past three weeks that they engaged in substance use behaviours including: (1) binge drinking (i.e., consumed 4+/5+ standard drinks for females/males in one sitting) and (2) used e-cigarettes (i.e., nicotine vapes) (Collins et al., 1985).

Peer Connectedness During the Pandemic

Participants were presented with one statement related to peer connectedness that read: "In general, I have friends I can talk to, who care about my feelings and what happens to me" and were asked to rate this statement using a 4-point Likert-type scale, with 1 = Not at all true for me, 2 = Sometimes true for me, 3 = Often true for me and, 4 = very true for me.

Self-Reported Popularity

In order to measure self-reported popularity, participants were asked to use a slide scale to rate how popular they are compared to the rest of their grade/their friends (Dumas et al., 2019). The scale ranged from 1 = least popular to 10 = most popular.

Analytic Plan

To test H_1A , that binge drinking will increase from Time 1 to Time 2, a paired-samples t-test was conducted with time as the independent variable and binge drinking as the dependent variable. Subsequently, to test H_1B that vaping will increase from Time 1 to Time 2, another paired-samples t-test was conducted with time as the independent variable and vaping as the dependent variable.

To examine if greater self-reported popularity (H2) and peer connectedness at T1 (H2) will predict more substance use at T2, two stepwise linear regressions were conducted using

IBM SPSS Version 27 with binge drinking and vaping as the dependent variable. For both regressions, the first step included gender, age, self-reported popularity, and peer connectedness at Time 1 as predictors. In the second step, Time 1 substance use (binge drinking/vaping) was included as a covariate in order to test if self-reported popularity and peer connectedness predict increases in substance use from Time 1 to Time 2. This allows for the dependent variable to represent a marker of change, i.e., increases or decreases in binge drinking/vaping relative to initial levels of that same behaviour (Cohen & Cohen, 1983).

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 reports the means, standard deviations, and correlations for the variables of interest at Time 1 and Time 2. The average adolescent engaged in binge drinking 0.19 days on average in the past three weeks at Time 1 and 1.51 days at Time 2. The average adolescent engaged in vaping for 0.47 days on average in the past three weeks at Time 1 and 1.26 days at Time 2.

Pearson correlations conducted on the variables of interest found that both Time 1 and Time 2 binge drinking were significantly and positively correlated with Time 1 and Time 2 vaping (see Table 1). Further, significant positive correlations emerged between age and binge drinking at Time 1 and Time 2 as well as vaping at Time 1. Peer connectedness at Time 1 was positively and significantly correlated with self-reported popularity at Time 1 and Time 2 and peer connectedness at Time 2. Next, binge drinking and vaping at Time 1 were also found to be positively and significantly correlated with self-reported popularity at Time 1. Binge drinking at Time 2 was correlated with peer connectedness and self-reported popularity at Time 2. Last,

Commented [KNL1]: does this fit here?

Commented [TD2R1]: It does, but the first part is redundant with what you just said so I edited it a bit.

more positive and significant correlations arose between vaping and self-reported popularity at Time 2.

Hypothesis Testing

Consistent with H_1A , a paired-samples *t*-test revealed that adolescents binge drank significantly more frequently at Time 2 (M = 1.51, SD = 2.58) compared to Time 1 (M = 0.19, SD = 1.14), t(389) = -10.03, p < .001. Further, consistent with H_1B , another paired-samples *t*-test indicated that adolescents vaped significantly more frequently at Time 2 (M = 1.26, SD = 4.31) compared to Time 1 (M = 0.47, SD = 2.38), t(387) = -4.21, p < .001. Therefore, H_1A and H_1B were fully supported by the data collection.

The results of the linear regression analyses are presented in Table 2. H2 was partially supported in that Time 1 self-reported popularity was a significant predictor of vaping at Time 2 (see Model 2, Step 1), but not binge drinking at Time 2 (see Model 1, Step 1). That being said, when Time 1 vaping was included as a covariate (see Model 2, Step 2), Time 1 self-reported popularity was no longer a significant predictor. This suggests that while greater self-reported popularity was associated with more vaping, it did not predict increases in vaping from Time 1 to Time 2. Other significant predictors included older age for binge drinking and gender (identifying as female) for vaping. Finally, H3 was not supported in that increased peer connectedness at Time 1 did not predict increased vaping or binge drinking at T2.

Discussion

The results of this study support H_1A and H_1B , such that adolescents engaged in binge drinking and vaping more days in the past three weeks at Time 2 compared to Time 1. This finding extends past research from Bonar et al. (2021) which found that approximately 40% of

university students reported binge drinking less when their campus was initially closed as a result of public health measures (T1). Despite still being in lockdown at Time 2, the prevalence of vaccines was increasing, outdoor gatherings became more common and socially accepted and students were more familiar with adapting to life in lockdown compared to April 2020 (T1). Given that most adolescents consume substances for social purposes such as maintaining social status and popularity, this may help to explain the lack of use at Time 1 when social gatherings were strictly prohibited by government officials (Dumas et al., 2020). Data at Time 1 was collected in April 2020 right at the beginning of the pandemic when there was extreme uncertainty and families were forced to adapt and navigate unfamiliar circumstances Results from Miech et al. (2021) revealed that the beginning of the pandemic marked the most notable adolescent substance use decrease in nearly forty-five years. The results of the present study reflect minimal binge drinking and vaping at Time 1 which might have been attributed to the unknown circumstances at the beginning of the pandemic. This unprecedented time decreased substance availability for adolescents, which is also likely a key reason for decreased frequency of binge drinking and vaping use during this time (Miech et al., 2021).

When parents and adolescents were required to isolate together for extended periods of time during lockdown, Dumas et al. (2020) noted that there were significant changes to drinking behaviours that included adolescents drinking more frequently with their parents. When adolescents were drinking in the presence of their parents, their parents were able to carefully monitor their adolescents' alcohol intake, leading many parents to believe that this was a safer practice for exploring substance use (Friese et al., 2012). However, Dumas et al. (2020) discovered an interesting result that adolescents who drank with their parents during lockdown

were more likely to binge drink in contexts beyond their household environment. Considering that the findings of the present study reveal increased substance use at Time 2 compared to Time 1, it would be interesting to consider if this increase could have been influenced by adolescents drinking with their parents at T1; a behaviour that was not always previously condoned by parents and the increase in drinking may have been result of permissive parenting at T1 (Dumas et al., 2020; Friese et al., 2012). Future research should extend these findings as drinking with parents during lockdown (T1) appears to be an important variable when predicting increased adolescent binge drinking in other settings and not a protective factor against binge drinking like many parents once believed.

Moreover, at Time 2 (June 2021), pandemic-related restrictions were being removed as a consequence of increased vaccination rates and lower coronavirus case counts in Ontario. Despite social distancing measures and masking requirements still being enforced by the government, the prevalence of binge drinking amongst older adolescents and young returned to levels similar to those prior to March 2020's initial lockdown in the summer months following the first lockdown, according to the research of Miech et al. (2021), which was also reflected in the data analysis of the present study.

It is necessary to consider the possibility that substance use patterns changed as a function of an adolescents' age. Kirst and colleagues (2014) explained that as adolescents approach young adulthood, substance use has shown to increase and is especially notable during the transition from high school to university, college, or the workforce. The discrepancies in substance use during this transition period can be attributed to many exterior factors such as increased independence and autonomy, new peer groups, and increased social norms surrounding

Commented [KNL3]: find precovid substance use numbers compared to now

Commented [KNL4R3]: to address TD Comment: so you compared your T2 substance use rates to pre-pandemic data and they were similar?

alcohol consumption (Kirst et al., 2014). At Time 1, all participants were not of legal drinking age however by the completion at Time 2, nearly fourteen months had passed, meaning that a significant portion of the participants had completed high school and likely shifted paths to post-secondary education and careers, which could also have contributed to the increased binge drinking at Time 2 (Neighbors et al., 2007). Furthermore, Sylvestre et al. (2022) noted from their study that increased prevalence of vape usage was associated with young adults who lived alone compared to those who resided with others. Thus, as this participant pool aged, it was increasingly likely that they gained autonomy and independence by moving away from home to pursue a school opportunity, which may account for the increase in vape use at Time 2.

It has been previously established by Pepper and colleagues (2018) that most adolescents owned a vaping device that they either acquired by purchasing it at a store, buying it from another person, or giving someone money to purchase for them. Given the circumstances of the lockdown measures at Time 1, it is likely that adolescents did not have this opportunity as stores were closed and opportunities for adolescents to gather were substantially lessened. Further, Pepper et al. (2018) explained that nearly 75% of adolescents had reported using a friend's vaping paraphernalia in the past month. Adolescents who reported vaping most frequently did not own vape products themselves, and those who vaped in social situations were most likely to use a friends vape (Pepper et al., 2018). The findings of Pepper et al. (2018) highlight the crucial social experience that appears to be an essential factor in adolescents acquiring, using, and obtaining vape products. This was severely limited at Time 1 and much more likely as restrictions lifted at Time 2, helping to reflect the finding that usage was increased at Time 2 compared to Time 1.

Results partially support H2, such that self-reported popularity at the commencement of the study was a significant predictor of vaping at Time 2 but was not a significant predictor of binge drinking at Time 2. Despite the significant findings for vaping substance use patterns, when Time 1 vaping was included as a covariate, Time 1 self-reported popularity was no longer a significant predictor of this behaviour. These results extend the findings of Allen et al. (2006) and their work with the popularity-socialization hypothesis. This hypothesis states that high levels of popularity in adolescence would be associated with increases in mild-to-moderate deviance such as alcohol experimentation (Allen et al., 2006). Further, the popularitysocialization hypothesis was not to predict increases in behaviours that are less accepted or less normative that could threaten relationships with peers (Allen et al., 2006). Binge drinking may be considered a behaviour that is less accepted by peers as this form of problem drinking is associated with immediate consequences such as motor vehicle crashes, intentional or unintentional injuries, academic problems and risky sexual behaviours as well as long-term consequences such as alcohol abuse problems (McCarty et al, 2004). These findings by Allen et al. (2006) and McCarty et al. (2004) may help to support why self-reported popularity at Time 1 was a significant predictor of vaping at Time 2 but not binge drinking due to the heavy physical, psychological, and social consequences associated with binge drinking in adolescence compared to vaping.

It is possible that self-reported popularity at the beginning of the pandemic (T1) predicted increased vaping at Time 2 because of technophilia. Technophilia is defined as a positive orientation to new technology (Barrientos-Gutierrez et al., 2018). E-cigarettes have been developed and advertised as a high-tech adaptation or alternative to cigarette smoking, ultimately

making it more attractive to adolescents who are largely technologically advanced and motivated (Barrientos-Gutierrez et al., 2018). Technophilia has been related to increased use of electronic media and social media which was one of the only methods of communication or ability to establish social status and popularity at Time 1 (Barrientos-Gutierrez et al., 2018). E-cigarette companies have targeted their advertising campaigns to popular social media platforms such as Twitter and Facebook for years. This heavy marketing exposure is likely to expose youth to this new, "cool", alternative to smoking (Barrientos-Gutierrez et al., 2018). It is known that adolescents are particularly vulnerable to peer influence and maintaining status on social media platforms (Sun et al., 2021). Platforms that emerged before the pandemic, that gained popularity and significant attention such as TikTok have been promoting or getting famous influencers to promote trends before and throughout the pandemic, such as "nicotine addiction check" memes which trivialize and glorify this terribly harmful addictive substance (Sun et al., 2021). Lastly, it may be due to this technological exposure before and at the beginning of the pandemic amongst self-reported popular youth that helps to account for increased vaping among adolescents at time 2, however, does not account for the increase from Time 1 to Time 2.

Despite the fact that the present study did not support that self-reported popularity at Time 1 would predict more frequent binge drinking at Time 2, this might have been a result of confusion regarding social status and popularity at the beginning of the pandemic. Popularity is thought to be based on the foundational developmental changes from early adolescence and is severely intertwined with substance use (Malamut et al., 2020). With the uncertainty and unchartered territories that the COVID-19 pandemic presented adolescents with during the time of completion of the first survey (T1), it is possible that this created increased inflated stress,

anxiety, and helpless feelings (Singh et al., 2020). These unforeseeable circumstances may have impacted the participants' ability to reflect and report on their social status and reported popularity since it relied heavily on in-person peer interactions, which were significantly decreased because of being confined to one's home. Furthermore, there was only one-item related to self-reported popularity in the survey which was a scale where participants had to rate how popular they believed themselves to be compared to their peers from 1 (least popular) to 10 (most popular). This single scale unit may not have been accurately representative of an adolescent's true popularity at the time of the survey and did not consider other measures of popularity, such as peer nominations or ratings of popularity, teacher ratings or observational methods. Further, it may have been beneficial to give participants a standard definition of what popularity is to decrease the variability in the meaning of popularity which can vary as a function of age, gender, ethnicity, and culture (Cillessen et al., 2011). Comparable to the definition of friendship, there are a wide variety of definitions and meanings of popularity between adolescents of different ages and the meaning and importance of popularity is also likely to change and adapt as a function of age (Cillessen et al., 2011; LaFontana & Cillessen, 2010). Future studies should consider this fault in the present study and provide a standard definition to develop a more concrete understanding in what popularity meant to youth and therefore, yield a more accurate findings to support the relationship between popularity and substance use frequency.

The results of this study did not support H3, in that peer-connectedness at Time 1 did not predict increased vaping or binge drinking at Time 2. It is known that peer connectedness is defined as perceptions of support, caring and trust in one's peer group (Bernat & Resnick, 2009).

Furthermore, Pardini and colleagues (2012) highlighted that adolescents who affiliate with peers who engage in risk taking behaviours are more likely to engage in these behaviours themselves. Because each participant's peer connectedness was threatened by the confounds of the pandemic, it is possible that the data obtained at this time point was not an accurate representation of true peer connectedness and therefore did not result in any significance found with relation to Time 2 substance use.

Similar to the self-reported popularity measure, there was only a single item measure of peer connectedness at Time 1 which required participants to report, using a Likert scale, their feelings regarding supportive peers at this time. Peer connectedness is a complex variable that may contribute to an enhanced sense of belonging, increased social network, active engagement in the community, and engagement of pro-social activities (Foster et al., 2018). This might have been a limitation of this study as it is possible that it was not a comprehensive measure of the complex factors that go into establishing and reporting peer connectedness, especially during an extremely vulnerable period of one's life (adolescence) and the circumstances of the beginning of the pandemic. Future research studies should consider using a more complex scale such as an adaptation of the Hemingway's Adolescent Connectedness Scale (Karcher & Sass, 2010) that provides more comprehensive and representative items that completely assess adolescents' perceived support by peers and friends.

The lack of significance in the data obtained with regards to H3 may also be an extension of the Prototype-Willingness model, which states that adolescent risk behaviours, such as binge drinking or vaping, are reactions to social situations and are not planned or intended actions (Teunissen et al., 2014). This emphasizes that with lack of opportunity to establish peer

connectedness or report on feelings of peer connectedness at the beginning of the pandemic by attending school in person or planning social gatherings with peers, it is likely that adolescents did not engage in alcohol use due to lack of opportunities to encountering situations in which they had opportunities to drink and partake in vaping behaviours (Teunissen et al., 2014).

Another limitation of this study that should be acknowledged is the fact that these surveys required participants to self-report their responses. Although self-report measures are fairly easy to administer and straight-forward to follow, especially during COVID and times of limited person-to-person contact, they do have limitations. For example, the social desirability hypothesis may have played a role in participants' ability to accurately report their findings (Lavrakas, 2008). The social desirability hypothesis refers to the tendency of respondents to report answers to surveys in such a way that are more socially acceptable than what their true response would be (Lavrakas, 2008). In this case, it is possible that respondents underreported their substance use since it is considered a socially undesirable behaviour, in an attempt to report frequencies that are more socially respectable. In addition, adolescents might have overreported peer connectedness and popularity to favourably portray their self-image.

In the future, it may be beneficial for researchers to consider parental influence on binge drinking and vaping beyond the COVID-19 pandemic. As confirmed by the data of the study, binge drinking and vaping were significantly higher at the end of the pandemic compared to the beginning, which is likely a result of many interacting variables. Parents are considered to be "the best role models" for their children and one's home to be one of the best places to learn essential life skills such as coping with stress in healthy manner, problem solving and learning how to appropriately express emotion (Singh et al., 2020). As reported in Dumas et al.'s (2020)

research, an alarming number of adolescents were using substances with their parents during lockdown periods of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite alcohol use with parents being highly monitored, research has revealed the negative implications of such some of which being that adolescents who drink moderately with their parents being more likely to engage in binge drinking outside of their home (Dumas et al., 2020). This is a major point of concern when reflecting on the learned alcohol consumption habits for adolescents from their parents during lockdown considering that parents are supposed to set standards for desirable and appropriate behaviours for their offspring. By demonstrating approval with the consumption of alcohol may have led to the increase binge drinking in other contexts beyond the home environment (Dumas et al., 2020; Pape & Bye, 2017). Additionally, the Norwegian health authorities have extensively expressed that no parent should offer their underage adolescents any alcohol in any context because of the harmful and heavy consumption relationships that exist (Pape & Bye, 2017). Future studies should assess the lasting mental health or addiction rates amongst teenagers beyond the pandemic, parental-child attachment styles that lead to variations in alcohol consumption and analyze adolescents' perception of appropriate alcohol use (i.e., as a coping mechanism, social tool, etc.). Simultaneously, research should consider frequency and amount of parental alcohol consumption in front of their children and why parents drink or drank during the pandemic and compare such results to those of their adolescents to determine if any significant relationships exist between these entities.

In conclusion, this study expanded on previous findings by linking substance use, specifically binge drinking and vaping, peer connectedness and self-reported popularity during the recent COVID-19 pandemic through a longitudinal design. The results found that there was

more frequent substance use in June 2021 (T2) compared to April 2020 (T1) (H₁A and H₁B) and that greater self-reported popularity in April 2020 predicted more vaping in June 2021 (H2). These findings have important implications and emphasize the importance of addressing current and past adolescent binge drinking and vaping frequency and establishing relationships between self-reported popularity and peer connectedness with substance use behaviours. Future researchers may wish to consider the implications of increased binge drinking and vaping and the consequences this may have on the mental and physical well-being of adolescents as they transition into adult life as well as considering the influence that parental-condoned drinking may have on an adolescents' relationship with substance use. Because the COVID-19 pandemic is still on-going there is still much to learn about the lasting impacts, especially for vulnerable adolescents are their ability to connect with peers, establish and experience popularity and use substances during unprecedented times.

Table 1. *Means, standard deviations and correlations between binge drinking, peer connectedness, vaping, and self-reported popularity at Time 1 and Time 2.*

	M (SD)	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
1. Age	16.93 (0.85)		.068*	.040	.088**	049	.114*	.039	029	019
2. Binge Drinking (T1)	0.31 (1.35)			009	.300**	.082*	.369**	.362**	.094	.052
3. Peer Connectedness	3.22 (0.87)				.027	.210**	.036	024	.459**	.221**
(T1) 4. Vaping (T1)	1.02 (3.92)					.141**	.232**	.516**	.003	.094
5. Self- Reported Popularity	5.21 (2.25)						.058	.076	.207**	.716**
(T1) 6. Binge Drinking (T2)	0.43 (1.25)							.277**	.094*	.119**
7. Vaping (T2)	1.40 (4.56)								.018	.105*
8. Peer Connectedness (T2)	3.09 (0.82)									.221**
9. Self-Reported Popularity (T2)	4.75 (2.34)									

Note: *. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

^{**.} Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

 Table 2. Results of Regression Analyses Predicting Substance Use.

	Mode	el 1	Model 2			
	Predicting Bin	ge Drinking	Predicting Vaping			
	Step 1	Step 2	Step 1	Step 2		
	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)	B (SE)		
Peer						
Connectedness	.016 (.065)	.019 (.061)	055 (.255)	.000 (.221)		
Self-Reported						
Popularity	.064 (.026)	.036 (.025)	.106 (.104)	.025 (.090)		
Gender	.043 (.141)	.025 (.132)	.136 (.550)	.128 (.473)		
Age	.142 (.064)	.105 (.060)	.055 (.250)	017 (.217)		
Binge Drinking		.355 (.046)				
Vaping				.518 (.080)		

Note: $Bold = significant \ p < 0.05$

Commented [KNL5]: is this table formatted properly? do I need to make a statement at the bottom that the bolded numbers are significant? or is this the proper way?

References

- Allen, J. P., Porter, M. R., McFarland, F. C., Marsh, P., & McElhaney, K. B. (2005). The Two Faces of Adolescents' Success With Peers: Adolescent Popularity, Social Adaptation, and Deviant Behavior. *Child Development*, 76(3), 747–760. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00875.x
- Barrientos-Gutierrez, I., Lozano, P., Arillo-Santillan, E., Morello, P., Mejia, R., & Thrasher, J. F. (2019). "Technophilia": A new risk factor for electronic cigarette use among early adolescents? *Addictive Behaviors*, 91, 193–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.09.004
- Bernat, D. H., & Resnick, M., D. (2009). Connectedness in the lives of adolescents In

 DiClemente RJ, Santelli JS, & Crosby RA (Eds.), *Adolescent health: Understanding and*preventing risk behaviors (pp. 375–389). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Boak, A., Elton-Marshall, T., Mann, R. E., & Hamilton, H. A. (2020). Drug use among Ontario students, 1977-2019: detailed findings from the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey (OSDUHS). *Toronto (ON): Centre for Addiction and Mental Health*.
- Bonar, E. E., Parks, M. J., Gunlicks-Stoessel, M., Lyden, G. R., Mehus, C. J., Morrell, N., & Patrick, M. E. (2021). Binge drinking before and after a COVID-19 campus closure among first-year college students. *Addictive Behaviors*, 118, 106879. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2021.106879
- Chaffee, B. W., Cheng, J., Couch, E. T., Hoeft, K. S., & Halpern-Felsher, B. (2021).
 Adolescents' Substance Use and Physical Activity Before and During the COVID-19
 Pandemic. JAMA Pediatrics. doi:10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.0541

- Chao, D., Hashimoto, H., & Kondo, N. (2019). Social influence of e-cigarette smoking prevalence on smoking behaviours among high-school teenagers: Microsimulation experiments. *Plos One*, *14*(8). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0221557
- Cheadle, J. E., Walsemann, K. M., & Goosby, B. J. (2015). Teen Alcohol Use and Social Networks: The Contributions of Friend Influence and Friendship Selection. *Journal of alcoholism and drug dependence*, 3(5), 224. https://doi.org/10.4172/2329-6488.1000224
- Cillessen, M., Antonius, A., & Marks, P.E.L. (2011). Conceptualizing and measuring popularity.

 Popularity in the peer system. 25-56.
- Cohen, J. C., & Cohen, P. P. (1983): Applied Multiple Regression/Correlation Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. *Hillsdale, New Jersey*.
- Cohen, R. I., & Bosk, E. A. (2020). Vulnerable Youth and the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Pediatrics*, 146(1). doi:10.1542/peds.2020-1306
- Collins, L. M., Graham, J. W., Hansen, W. B., & Johnson, C. A. (1985). Agreement Between Retrospective Accounts of Substance Use and Earlier Reported Substance Use. Applied Psychological Measurement, 9(3), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1177/014662168500900308
- Dumas, T. M., Davis, J. P., & Ellis, W. E. (2019). Is It Good to Be Bad? A Longitudinal Analysis of Adolescent Popularity Motivations as a Predictor of Engagement in Relational Aggression and Risk Behaviors. Youth & Society, 51(5), 659–679. https://doi.org/10.1177/0044118X17700319
- Dumas, T. M., Ellis, W., & Litt, D. M. (2020). What Does Adolescent Substance Use Look Like

- During the COVID-19 Pandemic? Examining Changes in Frequency, Social Contexts, and Pandemic-Related Predictors. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 67(3), 354–361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.06.018
- Foster, C. E., Horwitz, A., Thomas, A., Opperman, K., Gipson, P., Burnside, A., Stone, D. M., & King, C. A. (2017). Connectedness to family, school, peers, and community in socially vulnerable adolescents. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 81, 321–331. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.08.011
- Friese, B., Grube, J. W., Moore, R. S., & Jennings, V. K. (2012). Parents' rules about underage drinking: a qualitative study of why parents let teens drink. *Journal of drug education*, 42(4), 379–391. https://doi.org/10.2190/DE.42.4.a
- Groom, A. L., Vu, T. T., Landry, R. L., Kesh, A., Hart, J. L., Walker, K. L., . . . Payne, T. J. (2021). The Influence of Friends on Teen Vaping: A Mixed-Methods Approach.

 International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(13), 6784. doi:10.3390/ijerph18136784
- Hingson, R., & White, A. (2014). New research findings since the 2007 Surgeon General's Call to Action to Prevent and Reduce Underage Drinking: A review. *Journal of studies on alcohol and drugs*, 75(1), 158-169.
- Karcher, M. J., & Sass, D. (2010). A multicultural assessment of adolescent connectedness:
 Testing measurement invariance across gender and ethnicity. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 57(3), 274–289. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019357
- Kirst, M., Mecredy, G., Borland, T., & Chaiton, M. (2014). Predictors of Substance Use Among

- Young Adults Transitioning Away from High School: A Narrative Review. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 49(13), 1795–1807. https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2014.933240
- Kuntsche, E., Knibbe, R., Gmel, G., & Engels, R. (2005). Why do young people drink? A review of drinking motives. *Clinical psychology review*, 25(7), 841-861.
- LaFontana, K. M., & Cillessen, A. H. N. (2010). Developmental Changes in the Priority of Perceived Status in Childhood and Adolescence. *Social Development*, 19(1), 130–147. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9507.2008.00522.x
- Lavrakas, P. J. (2008). Social Desirability. *Encyclopedia of Survey Research Methods*. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412963947.n537
- Malamut, S. T., Luo, T., & Schwartz, D. (2020). Prospective Associations between Popularity, Victimization, and Aggression in Early Adolescence. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 49(11), 2347–2357. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-020-01248-4
- McCarty, C. A., Ebel, B. E., Garrison, M. M., DiGiuseppe, D. L., Christakis, D. A., & Rivara, F. P. (2004). Continuity of Binge and Harmful Drinking From Late Adolescence to Early Adulthood. *Pediatrics*, 114(3), 714–719. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2003-0864-l
- Mental Health Services Administration. (2017). Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2016 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (HHS Publication No. SMA 17-5044, NSDUH Series H-52). Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/data.
- Miech, R., Patrick, M. E., Keyes, K., O'Malley, P. M., & Johnston, L. (2021). Adolescent drug

- use before and during U.S. national COVID-19 social distancing policies. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 226, 108822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108822
- Neighbors, C., Lee, C. M., Lewis, M. A., Fossos, N., & Larimer, M. E. (2007). Are Social Norms the Best Predictor of Outcomes Among Heavy-Drinking College Students? *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 68(4), 556–565. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.20007.68.556
- Pape, H., & Bye, E. K. (2017). Drinking with parents. *Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 34(6), 445–455. https://doi.org/10.1177/1455072517740235
- Pardini, D. A., Loeber, R., Farrington, D. P., & Stouthamer–Loeber, M. (2012). Identifying Direct Protective Factors for Nonviolence. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43(2), S28–S40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2012.04.024
- Pepper, J. K., Coats, E. M., Nonnemaker, J. M., & Loomis, B. R. (2018). How Do Adolescents

 Get Their E-Cigarettes and Other Electronic Vaping Devices? *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 33(3), 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117118790366
- Singh, S., Roy, D., Sinha, K., Parveen, S., Sharma, G., & Joshi, G. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on mental health of children and adolescents: A narrative review with recommendations. *Psychiatry Research*, 293, 113429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113429
- Sun, T., Lim, C. C., Chung, J., Cheng, B., Davidson, L., Tisdale, C., Leung, J., Gartner, C. E., Connor, J., Hall, W. D., & Chan, G. C. (2021). Vaping on TikTok: a systematic thematic analysis. *Tobacco Control*, tobaccocontrol-2021. https://doi.org/10.1136/tobaccocontrol-2021-056619

Sylvestre, M. P., Dinkou, G. D. T., Naja, M., Riglea, T., Pelekanakis, A., Bélanger, M., Maximova, K., Mowat, D., Paradis, G., & O'Loughlin, J. (2022). A longitudinal study of change in substance use from before to during the COVID-19 pandemic in young adults. The Lancet Regional Health - Americas, 8, 100168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lana.2021.100168

Teunissen, H. A., Spijkerman, R., Cohen, G. L., Prinstein, M. J., Engels, R. C., & Scholte, R. H. (2014). An experimental study on the effects of peer drinking norms on adolescents' drinker prototypes. *Addictive Behaviors*, 39(1), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.08.034

Curriculum Vitae

Name: Kyla Lamb

Secondary School Diploma: 2018, John F. Ross Collegiate Vocational Institute, Guelph,

Canada

Post Secondary Diploma: Bachelor of Arts, Psychology, Honours Specialization,

Huron University (Expected Graduation 2022), London,

Canada

Experience: Presenter at Healthy Behaviours in an Online World

Conference at Huron University College, London, Ontario:

April 2021

Presenter at Centre for Undergraduate Research Learning

(CURL) Fall Exhibition at Huron University College,

London, Ontario: November 2021

Awards: Dean's Honour List

Huron Achievement Award

The Co-operators Employee Scholarship Program

Publications: Dumas, T.M., Ellis, W.E., Litt, D.M., Van Hedger, S.,

MacDonald, M., & Lamb, K. (under review) Changes in Adolescents' Social Contexts of Substance Use Across the COVID-19 Pandemic and Implications for Use Trajectories